
 1 

OFFICE OF THE SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS 
Peterborough, New Hampshire 

 
CONTOOCOOK VALLEY SCHOOL BOARD 

 
Tuesday, November 7, 2006 

SAU Office 
7 p.m. 

 
MINUTES 

 
Board         Administration 
Mary Allen, Beverly Bacon,     Keith Burke, Supt. 
Stewart Brock, Gail Cromwell,     Paul Bartolomucci, Asst. Supt. 
Butch Estey, Christy Greene,     Marian Alese, B.A. 
Dan Harper, Craig Hicks,      Linda Potter, SpEd.  
Arthur Knight, Bill McKinnon,     Richard Dunning, SMS 
Tom Welden        Pamela Matthews, BES   
         Deb Lesure, AES 
Beth SanMartino, CVEA      May Clark, DCS 
         Sue Dell, CVHS 
         Steve Bartsch, CVHS 
         Anita Flanagan,  HES 
         Gib West, GBS 
         Nikki McGettigan, TES 
 
1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance  
Tom Welden called the meeting to order at 7:02 p.m.  The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 
 
2.  Minutes (Board Vote Required) 

a. October 17, 2006 (Pg. 1- 12) 
Butch Estey moved to accept the minutes of the October 17, 2006 meeting.  Stewart Brock 
second.  Arthur Knight wanted it noted that on page 4, letter “e”, that he was not promoting 
that students rush a gunman.  All in favor as amended.   
 
3. Public Comment 

a.  Al Burtt 
Al Burtt, Greenfield, requested an explanation about an article in the newspaper regarding dental 
health. According to the article it says that Mr. Burke said that the teachers cannot administer 
fluoride treatment to kids.  He understands that the program is made available to students who 
would not otherwise be able to afford dental treatments.  Keith Burke said that the Healthy Teeth 
program is currently being conducted in the schools with parental permission.  The other piece is 
the fluoride treatments.  It was his understanding that the people that conduct the Healthy Teeth 
Program would also administer the fluoride treatments.  It was determined that the teachers would 
provide the treatments.  It was decided that it would place the teachers at risk.  He said that he is 
more than willing to have the program implemented but through another avenue.  Al Burtt asked if 
the concern was legal and not one of time concerns.  Keith said that there could be legal issues if 
the teacher were to administer the treatment incorrectly.  He believes that there might be other 
ways to administer this program.  Al said that he is frustrated that we spend $40 million and we 
canÕt find the time to administer this.  Al said that in the Town of Greenfield it would take 15 
 



 2 

minutes per week to administer this.  He said that he would get EMT volunteers to provide the 
treatment.  Keith said that he resents the tone and the approach of Al. He believes that the 
teachers are at risk and that it was his decision.  He said that if Al had a positive approach to this 
he was willing to discuss it.  Keith said that he would stand behind the program.  Al said that it is 
his feeling that the school is here to educate the kids but that mental health was equally important. 
Tom Welden said that he appreciates AlÕs offer and will further discuss with the Board. 
Shelly Nelkens distributed a letter from Wayne Green, Ph.D.  (See Attachment #1 &2) 
 
4.  Superintendent’s Report and Presentation of Business 

a. Request to Accept Donation (Board Vote Required) (Pg. 13 - 16) 
1.  Antrim Elementary School has received from Target a donation in the amount of 

$174.69 for the purpose of the all school activity fund. 
2. Greenfield Elementary School has received from The Yankee Farmer two holly 

bushes valued at $140 for the purpose of landscaping school grounds. 
3.  Greenfield Elementary School has received from Draper Energy Company a donation 

of $500 to help augment the student activity fund used to support student learning 
4.  South Meadow School has received from Elizabeth McLellan of Dublin a donation of 

$1800 for the purpose of the New York trip 
 
Keith Burke read the above donations.   
Stewart Brock moved to accept the donations as read.  Arthur Knight second.   
Bacon added “ with gratitude”.  Unanimous.   
 

b. NY Times Article (Pg. 17 – 19) 
Keith Burke referenced page 17 of tonightÕs packet.  It references a ConVal student and Keith 
thought that it was noteworthy.   
 

c. Second November Board Meeting 
Keith said that the November 21st meeting would be changed to the 28th because the 21st is the 
eve of Thanksgiving recess. 
 

d. New Parent Information on Web Site 
Keith said that one thing discussed at a former meeting was providing parents information about 
sexual offenders.  There is now a link where a search by various avenues can be conducted from 
the ConVal site.  Christy said that she recollected that the Board members would review the site 
and then decide as a Board if they wanted the link.  Tom said that he has visited the site, it is just 
another State link.  Keith said that the conversation came up and this was offered as an 
alternative.  Christy said that she does not recollect the conversation about putting it on the link.  
Bill McKinnon said that his recollection was the same as ChristyÕs.  Tom asked if anyone has 
looked at the link.  Tom said that Paul Bartolomucci can pull it back off and further discussion could 
take place.  Butch Estey said that we agreed to take two weeks to look at it.  Bill said that we could 
have a discussion tonight and decide this evening.  Beverly read off of the previous minutes the 
discussion that took place.  It was decided then that discussion would take place at the next 
meeting.  Tom asked what the sense of the Board was.  Dan Harper said that it is a pretty straight 
forward link.  Arthur said that it is there and it is a State site.  We can get there anyway we want.   
A vote of hands was conducted.  In favor of leaving the link in place were Craig, Butch, Bill, 
Arthur, Gail, Dan, Stewart, Tom, Beverly and Craig.  
Mary and Christy were opposed.  The link would remain.   
A broader discussion could take place.  Christy said that some guidelines should be determined for 
what goes on the web and does not.     
 

e.  Monthly Events Calendar (Pg. 20) 
Keith said that monthly calendar is included in tonightÕs packet 
 



 3 

5.  Reports 
a. Teacher 

Beth SanMartino said that tomorrow the staff will meet to discuss Primex.  Different Health 
Insurance plans are being looked at to consider options.  The meeting will take place at ConVal 
High School.   
 

b. Student 
None. 
 
Keith said that he and Tom met with the other sending schools last Wednesday to review the 
school calendar and ATC programs.  The request was to follow the NH calendar and not the 
Massachusetts calendar.  An interest was made to blend the April and February school vacations.  
Further discussion will take place.  The next meeting will take place on December 13th .   
ATC Programs were discussed.  The biggest discussion was around the Building Trades Program 
and the Automotive Program.  One concern is that they are very successful programs and we donÕt 
want to lose the programs because the instruction is exceptional.  Another staff member is being 
sought to potentially expand the programs and allow for continuity.  How we share the costs of this 
was discussed.  Under the Building Trades program, potential space was discussed  
with the possibility of obtaining space in the NEBS building should that sale go through.  The 
Automotive Program is currently in a tight space.    
Other areas discussed were both the ÒCorner of the HouseÓ program and the potential of having 
small engine repair programs.  ÒCorner of the HouseÓ would be the starter program to the Building 
Trades program.   
Christy asked if Cosmetology was not mentioned because it was coming forward.  Tom said that 
heavy discussion did not take place because it would be conducted through internships.   
 

c. Education 
Christy said that they met last night and discussed the Algebra for All program.  The math 
department provided information about final exam grades to the group.  A rigorous discussion took 
place.  The final exam marks will stay as they are.  Parents may make an appointment with Keith 
to further discuss. 
Granite State Fit Kids was presented by a panel of local pediatricians.  It is a funded program that 
comes with materials and an instructor.  Dr. Capetta will come to discuss the program.  World 
Language was discussed.  A World Language committee is being formed.  Further meetings will 
take place on Wednesdays.  An examination of ÒWhy teach World LanguagesÓ will take place.  
Health Curriculum was discussed.   
The next meeting will take place on November 20th at 7:00 at the SAU.   
Shelly Nelkens, community member, said that the information in the health curriculum regarding 
fluoride is unbalanced. 
 

d. Budget and Property 
Craig said that they met on October 24th.  A S.R.O. was discussed.  It was decided that better 
information was needed.  ProÕs and ConÕs will be needed.  A Capital Improvement Plan was also 
discussed.  A facility needs assessment was provided at the meeting.  A grasp of what is coming 
at us was desired.  The minutes are on the website.  The next meeting will be on Nov. 20th and 
27th.  Dan said that he recently heard that the Merrimack District had recently moved to a bio-
diesel method of energy.  Craig said that we want to look at this under capital improvement.  Mary 
Allen said that Nashua School District is also considering bio-diesel energy.  We have a great  
 
resource in Keene.  Shelly said that a while back a windmill was discussed.  She asked if anything 
was coming.  Paul said that he discussed this with an engineering company and it would be very  
expensive to initiate.  The costs to build a tower are steep.  Shelly said that the technology is 
currently available to build shorter towers.  Paul said that he would look into. 



 4 

Keith said that the budget will be delivered by November 14th.  Craig said that the budget will be 
made available on CD.   
 

e. Personnel 
Dan Harper said Personnel will meet on November 13th.  The possibility of a Human Resource 
person will be discussed.   
 

f. Professional Development 
Gail Cromwell said that they will meet on November 13th.   
Paul said he took a team to a State meeting.  Discussion took place on how to develop our next 
professional development plan. 
 

g. Communications 
Stewart Brock said that he will speak with Craig about moving forward.   
 
6.  Old Business 

a. Short List 
Tom Welden distributed the short list and reviewed the contents.  (See Attachment #3) 
Stewart Brock said that Goal #3 should be listed on this document.   
Stewart distributed a DRAFT of the report card.  (See Attachment #4) for review on the 28th. 
 

b. PBIS Report 
Linda Potter introduced the high school teachers and staff that have started and moved forward 
with the Positive Behavior Intervention and Support model.  Introductions were made.   
Leah Ryan distributed an information brochure about PBIS.  Kristin Ingram said that both staff and 
student moral were very low.  The language heard in the building was atrocious.   
A general overview of PBIS and how it began was reviewed.  The idea was to build a better school 
culture.  The staff was asked what was most pressing to address.  Language was identified.  
Relationships were built with students.  Faculty were move visible in the halls, conversations 
began that might not have otherwise.  The Building Respectful Schools committee was formed.  
Other schools already implementing the program were visited.  The goals were defined as 
Respect, Responsibility and Integrity.  A behavior matrix was developed.  Behaviors were provided 
and definitions had to be arrived at.  Five drafts of this document took place, it was no easy task.  
Tardies were focused upon.  We taught students what it meant to be tardy.  We reinforced it.  Two 
Feet in the Door was defined.  By the time the bell rings, the students body must be 100% through 
the door threshold.  Recognition was given to students who succeeded 100% of the time.  A 
drawing took place to reward students.  Reports from the SWIS system can be pulled to show 
problem areas.  ConVal is under the State average for major referrals.  Information from this 
system can help determine where the next focus could be.  Multiple ways to look at the data 
available were displayed.  The goal of PBIS is to bring consistency to our building.  Teachers 
viewed tardy in a number of various ways.  Under PBIS tardies are looked at in the same way.   
Dan Harper said that the group made a great presentation and did a great job.  Christy said that for 
a while we have looked at a system that would work for the high school.  The fact that 92% of staff 
are on board is applaudable.  Stewart said that he applauded the group and he recommended that 
quarterly updates be provided to the Board to see where this goes and where it has been.  A 
member of the press asked about the ranking of the majors.  Are they ranked other than 
alphabetical?  Deb Coyne said that the discipline action would be much more severe for the  
various majors.  For example the consequence for three tardies would be less severe than another 
more severe infraction. Beverly Bacon said that she considers herself lucky to work with 
this group.  Their passion shows.  Keith said that the high schoolÕs embracing of this program is 
noteworthy.  He said that some of our other schools have instituted similar models and deserved 
recognition as well.   
 

 



 5 

c.  Policy Approval (Pg. 21 - 22) 
1. ECAF Ð Audio and Video Surveillance on School District Property 
2. ECAF-R Ð Audio and Video Surveillance on School District Property Procedures 
3. IHBAA Ð Independent Special Education Evaluations (Distributed at Last Meeting) 
 

Keith said that discussion on the Audio and Video took place. 
Gail said that on page 21 Ð ECAF of tonightÕs packet that the key phrase which was to Òmonitor 
student behaviorÓ should be included in the first paragraph and deleted from the second 
paragraph.  Keith said that the first change was fine.  He said that it is not uncommon to repeat in 
more than one place because it did no harm.  Keith said that he would keep the second paragraph 
the same.  Gail asked if the wording ÒParent and GuardiansÓ was the acceptable practice.  Keith 
said that it was a legal matter should one be a guardian.  Tom suggested that we use the words 
Òlegal guardianÓ because there is a difference.  Keith said that we could put a statement of 
definition defining ÒParent and Legal guardianÓ used throughout the document at the beginning.  
The Board agreed. 
Arthur motioned to accept the policy as amended by Gail.  Butch Estey second.  All in favor. 
 
Linda Potter said that an evaluator had to hold a valid license.  If they didnÕt have a certification 
then we considered the individualÕs experience.  Linda said that these were relevant to 
independent evaluations.  Butch Estey asked could a parent use an independent evaluator if they 
wanted.  Linda said that that is what these guidelines speak to.  Linda said that if an independent 
evaluation is sought it is important for us to speak with the individual.  Gail asked if someone 
wanted to go to the Boston area would we say ÒnoÓ because it is not in the area.  Linda said that if 
a parent wanted an independent observation they could go to Boston at the parentÕs expense.  
Linda said that we want to talk to the evaluator.  Linda said that she realized that as a result of this 
conversation that #2 should be deleted.   
Butch said that #5 states that Òthe cost of the evaluation shall not exceedÉ and that the district will 
not pay for the evaluation until it receives the evaluatorÕs reportÓ.  He asked if this was customary.    
Linda said that this was correct, it is how we conduct business. 
Stewart Brock moved to accept the policy as amended.  Mary Allen second.  Unanimous. 
 
Bill McKinnon distributed a document (Attachment #5) detailing requests made by him that have 
been unmet.   
Marian said that she did not know that Antrim received permission slips until after the fact.  Craig 
said that Bill has made several requests.  Marian said that she did not have the document until 
recently.  She said that she forgot about the request and apologized.   
Keith said that the main permission slip was changed.  There was a permission slip for the fluoride 
treatments as well.  Craig said that the information must have come directly from the Healthy Teeth 
Program to Antrim.  Keith confirmed that it had.  The press asked if the fluoride topical treatment is 
different than the rinse.  Keith said that we were not doing the rinse and did not have a permission 
slip. 
Shelly Nelkens asked why the emphasis is on the fluoride if we are not going to do the rinse.  It 
doesnÕt mention sealants but goes quite a bit into fluoride.   
Bill said that it doesnÕt matter what the topic is but that he made two requests for information.  
Conflicting reports were taking place and his requests were ignored.  Other correspondence took 
place.  It is reasonable for a Board member to request information to address issues.  He said that 
quite often his requests go unheard.  Bill said that he wanted to understand the communications 
going back and forth between Healthy Teeth and the SAU and that his request was unmet.  Bill 
asked if there were any other correspondence between Healthy Teeth and the SAU.  Keith and 
Marian said that there had not been any. 
Tom urged members to talk to him should there be a problem in the future. 
 
 
 



 6 

7.  New Business 
Town forums were reviewed.  Beverly Bacon said that with the help of the PES PTO and Sue 
Copley that a forum took place on October 19th.  Between 15 and 20 people attended.  Budget 
discussion took place.  Enrichment programs were discussed.  PBIS was touched upon.  Busses 
and parking were also discussed.  It was a very positive meeting. 
Mary Allen said that she met with the Antrim PTO.  Ten were in attendance.  School safety was the 
topic.  It was a good discussion.  It tied into a discussion of how the Antrim Gym is shared and 
safety concerns.  The meeting was very positive. 
 
8.  Approval of Manifests (Board Vote Required) 
Marian certified that manifests 44 through 51 totaling $991,524.15 and Payroll #9 totaling 
$1,065,797.59 as well as Sub Run 108, 109 and 110 totaling $29,433.77 have been reviewed by 
me and found to be proper charges against the Contoocook Valley School District for goods and/or 
services received and have been properly processed prior to their submittal to the School Board. 
Craig Hicks motioned to accept the approval of the manifests as read.  Beverly Bacon 
second.  Unanimous. 
 
Stewart Brock reminded members that when things are passed around that the words ÒDRAFTÓ be 
labeled on it so that it not be considered as adopted.   
  
9. Non-Public Session:  RSA 91-A:3,IIc 
Tom Welden said that there were three items for non-public session. 
 
Dan Harper motioned at 8:45 p.m. to go into non-public session for two matters of 
personnel and one negotiation matter.   
 
Butch Estey motioned to adjourn non-public session at 9:30 p.m.  Stewart Brock second. 
Beverly Bacon motioned to seal the minutes of non-public session.  Gail Cromwell second. 
Unanimous. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Brenda L. Marschok 
 
 
 


